



Constitution & Bylaws

Texas Industrial Vocational Association, Inc.

Constitution

**As Passed August 1992 and
Amended July 1994, July 2004**

ARTICLE I NAME AND INCORPORATION

- Section 1. This organization shall be known as the Texas Industrial Vocational Association (TIVA). Hereafter in this Constitution and Bylaws it may be referred to as “the association.”
- Section 2. The Texas Industrial Vocational Association shall be incorporated pursuant to the Non-Profit Corporation Act of the State of Texas.
- Section 3. In event of dissolution of the Texas Industrial Vocational Association, the remaining assets will be distributed to one or more like organizations to be selected by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the state board of directors.

ARTICLE II PURPOSES

- Section 1. To provide leadership in the promotion, acceptance and development of career and technical education, including guidance services for youth and adults.
- Section 2. To promote the interests of teachers of career and technical education.
- Section 3. To cooperate with other educational associations in the further development of national and state programs of career and technical education.
- Section 4. To cooperate with the Texas Education Agency and its staff in continued development of career and technical education in Texas.
- Section 5. To expand and improve public knowledge and understanding of the advantage of career and technical education.
- Section 6. To support the SkillsUSA and all subsequently formed youth leadership development associations related to career and technical education.
- Section 7. To affiliate its membership with the Association for Career and Technical Educators.
- Section 8. To recognize and honor individuals for outstanding contributions to career and technical education.

ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIPS

- Section 1. Regular membership in this association may be obtained by all teachers, coordinators, supervisors, directors, teacher trainers, apprentice teachers, counselors, consultants and extension teachers who are actively engaged in career and technical education.
- Section 2. All regular members of the Texas Industrial Vocational Association are encouraged to be members of the Association for Career and Technical Educators (ACTE).
- Section 3. Regular members shall have the right to vote at all general membership meetings of the association; the right to hold office in accordance with requirements set forth by the Constitution and the Bylaws; any other rights and privileges approved by the state board of directors or as set forth by the Constitution and the Bylaws.
- Section 4. Associate membership may be held by any person not qualified for regular membership who is interested in the purposes and aims of this association. Associate members shall have all rights and privileges accorded regular members except the rights to hold office.
- Section 5. A teacher holding a certificate to teach career and technical education who is teaching academic courses in a Texas school; the director of the career and technical division of the Texas Education Agency and the professional staff of that division; the heads of university and college career and technical education departments and professional staffs in universities and colleges qualifying to train teachers for career and technical programs; a career and technical administrator engaged in carrying out career and technical programs in schools of Texas; the directors and the professional staffs in curriculum labs specializing in career and technical instructional materials in Texas; and persons in related fields may be associate or regular members of this Association.
- Section 6. Student membership may be obtained by persons majoring in career and technical education at Texas post-secondary educational institutions or persons engaged in an apprenticeship training program. Student members shall have all rights and privileges of regular members except those of voting and holding office.
- Section 7. Membership dues shall be set by the state board of directors and ratified by a majority vote of the membership, provided such dues adjustment shall have been published in the *TIVA NEWS* thirty (30) days prior to the annual membership meeting.
- Section 8. Retired membership will be bestowed on career and technical teachers who are members of TIVA upon their retirement from teaching. Retired members will receive TIVA publications but will not be eligible for any of the rights or privileges of membership.
- Section 9. Honorary membership may be conferred by the state board of directors. Honorary members shall have all rights and privileges of regular members except the rights to vote and hold office.
- Section 10. a. Principal amounts paid for life membership dues shall remain intact, constituting reserve assets of the association.
b. Interest obtained from investment of life membership dues may be spent to conduct the business of the

association, if needed and approved by the state board of directors.
Section 11. Industrial membership may be obtained by a business or industry entity.

ARTICLE IV HEADQUARTERS AND STAFF

Section 1. The location of the headquarters for this association shall be determined by the State Board of Directors.
Section 2. The headquarters staff of the Texas Industrial Vocational Association shall be directed by the executive director.

ARTICLE V ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Section 1. Districts will correspond to the districts used by the Texas Education Agency.

ARTICLE VI STATE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. The state board of directors shall be the policy making body of this association.
Section 2. The policies of the state board of directors shall be subject to review and approval by the membership of this organization.
Section 3. The executive director shall meet with the state board of directors in a non-voting, advisory capacity.

ARTICLE VII OFFICERS

Section 1. The state officers of this association shall consist of a president, president-elect, secretary-treasurer and the immediate past president.
Section 2. The district officers of this association shall consist of a president and director.
Section 3. Specific duties of state and district officers shall be enumerated in the Bylaws of this association.
Section 4. Term of office for all state offices shall be for one year.
Section 5. All officers, except the state president, may succeed themselves without limit.

ARTICLE VIII COMMITTEES

Section 1. The state president shall appoint the chairs of any state level committees.
Section 2. There shall be standing committee chairmen responsible to the state board of directors for continuing the work of the association.
Section 3. Standing committee chairmen shall be appointed by the incoming state president prior to the adjournment of the annual summer in-service meeting with the approval of the state board of directors.
Section 4. The duties of the standing committees shall be developed by the state board of directors.
Section 5. The state president and district presidents may appoint other committees to serve their offices as deemed necessary and practical.
Section 6. Standing committees shall be formed to ensure compatibility with the bylaws of affiliated organizations. The standing committees of the association shall be: membership, legislative, budget, public relations and nominations.
Section 7. The executive committee shall be the elected state officers and the immediate past president. The executive director shall serve as ex-officio member.
Section 8. Committee chairs and members shall be members of the association. Representatives from industry and/or the community may serve in an advisory capacity.

ARTICLE IX CHECKS AND BALANCES

Section 1. All action taken by the executive director shall be subject to review and approval by the state board of directors.
Section 2. All action taken by presidential appointees shall be subject to review and approval by the president.
Section 3. All activities on the district level must be consistent with the Constitution, Bylaws and purposes of this association and shall be subject to review and approval by the state president.
Section 4. All action taken by the state president shall be subject to review and approval by the state board of directors.
Section 5. All action taken by the state board of directors shall be subject to review and approval by the membership at large.

ARTICLE X UNEXPIRED TERMS

Section 1. Should the office of state president be vacated for any reason, within thirty (30) days, the state board of directors by a majority vote shall elect the past president or the president-elect to fill the unexpired term.
Section 2. Should the office of state president-elect be vacated for any reason, the state president shall appoint a person to fill the unexpired term, with the approval of the state board of directors. At the next annual membership meeting, a president and president-elect will be elected by the membership.
Section 3. Should the office of secretary-treasurer be vacated for any reason, the state president shall appoint a person to fill the unexpired term, with the approval of the state board of directors.
Section 4. The unexpired term of a district president or district director shall be filled by appointment of the state president as set forth in the Bylaws.

ARTICLE XI IMPEACHMENT

- Section 1. An individual officer, district presidents and district directors of the Texas Industrial Vocational Association, Inc. may be impeached for cause in the performance of the duties of the office.
- Section 2. The impeachment process shall include:
- a. State Officers-Charges specifying cause shall be filed with the state board of directors by petition carrying the signatures of one-fifth (1/5) of the current membership.
 - b. District Officers-Charges specifying cause shall be filed with the state board of directors by petition carrying the signatures of one-fifth (1/5) of the current district membership.
 - c. A defense to those charges may be made by the individual.
 - d. The state board of directors will deliberate on the evidence presented.
 - e. A two-thirds (2/3) vote of the state board of directors membership shall be required to remove an officer from office.
- Section 3. Valid cause shall be:
- a. Continued, gross or willful neglect of the duties of the office.
 - b. Failure or refusal to disclose necessary information on matters of association business.
 - c. Misuse of association funds.
 - d. Unwarranted attacks on or refusal to cooperate with the state president.
 - e. Misrepresentation of the association and its officers to outside persons.
 - f. Conviction of a felony.
- Section 4. Appeal process:
Removed state officers, district presidents or district directors may appeal their removal to the state board of directors in writing within twenty (20) calendar days. In such instance, the state president shall file charges of cause within ten (10) calendar days before the state board of directors; the discharged person may answer such charges of cause; the state board of directors will review the facts and either uphold or reject the removal by a simple majority vote of its membership.

ARTICLE XII AMENDMENT

- Section 1. The Constitution may be amended by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the general assembly, provided the proposed amendment has been received by the state board of directors or the executive director and has been published in the *TIVA NEWS* at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the general membership meeting.
- Section 2. The Constitution may be amended by a four-fifths (4/5) vote of the general assembly when the amendment has not been previously submitted and published. Members of the general assembly must have copies of the amendment. Proponents of the amendment must distribute copies of the proposed amendment to all members of the general assembly prior to its presentation.
- Section 3. Voting on all Constitution and Bylaws amendments shall be by written or roll-call ballot.
- Section 4. The Bylaws of this association may be amended by a simple majority of the general assembly or by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the entire state board of directors, not just those present. However, to amend Article V, Section 4, of the Bylaws concerning life dues shall require a three-fourths (3/4) majority vote of the entire state board of directors, not just those present.
- Section 5. The Constitution of this association may never be suspended.
- Section 6. Specific provisions of the Bylaws of this association may be temporarily suspended by a four-fifths (4/5) majority of either the general assembly or the state board of directors.
- Section 7. In the event that an annual membership meeting is not held, amendments to the Constitution and Bylaws shall be voted on as follows:
- a. Copies of the proposed changes with a ballot shall be mailed to all members.
 - b. Ballots shall be returned to the state board of directors within thirty (30) calendar days.
 - c. Approval shall be by a majority of those ballots returned.
- Section 8. Unless otherwise provided by the amendment, the amendment shall become effective immediately upon adoption.

Texas Industrial Vocational Association, Inc.

Bylaws

As adopted August 1992 and

Amended: 5/1993; 7/1994; 10/1996; 3/1998; 4/1999; 9/2001; 3/2003; 1/2004, 4/2006, 4/2007, 5/2009, 10/2009

- ARTICLE I HEADQUARTERS**
Section 1. The place of business of the association shall be Austin, Travis County, Texas which shall be known as headquarters office for the Texas Industrial Vocational Association. The headquarters staff shall be directed by a non-voting, salaried executive director.
- ARTICLE II DISTRICTS**
Section 1. The association shall be divided into districts that correspond to the districts used by the Trade and Industrial Education Division of the Texas Education Agency.
- ARTICLE III FISCAL AND MEMBERSHIP YEAR**
Section 1. The fiscal and membership year of the Association shall be from July 1 through June 30.
- ARTICLE IV QUORUMS, MEETINGS**
Section 1. a. Quorums for state board of directors meetings shall be 50% of the membership plus one.
b. Quorums for general membership meetings shall be those present and voting.
c. Quorums for balloting conducted by mail shall be those ballots returned.
Section 2. a. General membership meetings shall be held at a time and place designated by the state president and approved by the state board of directors. The general membership shall be notified of the meeting time and place at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the meeting.
b. A state general membership meeting shall be called when a petition from one-fifth (1/5) of the membership of the association and from a simple majority of the state board of directors is received by the state president. The requested meeting shall be scheduled no later than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of the petition. When a quorum is present, the called meeting may proceed.
Section 3. The state board of directors shall meet at least twice a year, but with sufficient regularity to properly supervise the affairs of the association.
Section 4. Nominations Committee meetings shall be held as scheduled by the procedure adopted by the state board of directors. The members must meet in sufficient time to solicit and screen nominations for state president-elect and state secretary-treasurer, in order to submit the names of the candidates to the state board of directors at the spring board meeting for their approval.
Section 5. Other state board of directors meetings may be called by the state president as necessary.
Section 6. a. Association districts shall hold a minimum of one meeting per fiscal year at a time and place specified by the district president.
b. District presidents may call other district general membership and district committee meetings as necessary.
c. A district meeting shall be called when a petition from one-fifth (1/5) of the district membership is received by the district president. The meeting may proceed at its scheduled time.
Section 7. Agendas shall be distributed prior to meetings of the association according to procedures developed by the state board of directors.
- ARTICLE V DUES**
Section 1. Annual dues for regular membership in the Texas Industrial Vocational Association shall be determined by the state board of directors.
Section 2. Annual dues for associate membership shall be 30% of regular TIVA annual dues.
Section 3. Annual dues for student memberships shall be 10% of regular TIVA annual dues.
Section 4. Membership dues shall be set by the state board of directors as described in Article III, Section 7 of the Constitution.
Section 5. Annual dues for industrial membership shall be determined by the state board of directors.
- ARTICLE VI ELECTIONS**
Section 1. Election of the state officers by secret ballot of the general membership shall be held at the annual summer in-service meeting according to procedures approved by the state board of directors.
Section 2. Candidates for office shall be taken from the Nominations Committee slate, from nominations made from the floor of the annual general membership meeting and from write-in nominations.
Section 3. All candidates for office of secretary-treasurer shall be current, regular members of the association and shall have been association members for at least one (1) year.

- Section 4. Candidates for president-elect shall have served on the state board of directors for two (2) consecutive years immediately prior to running for office..
- Section 5. Candidates shall be elected by a simple majority of votes cast.
- Section 6. When no majority is attained, the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes for the office shall be placed in a run-off election.
- Section 7. Run-off elections shall be held prior to adjournment of the annual summer in-service meeting.
- Section 8. The election tellers shall certify to the state board of directors the names of the persons duly elected.
- Section 9. The state board of directors shall elect those officers who are reported to be the winners by the election tellers as the officers of the board.
- Section 10. In the event that an annual membership meeting is not possible, balloting will be by mail.
- a. The Nominations Committee will present a slate of officers to the state board of directors at the spring board meeting.
 - b. Qualifications of the candidates will be printed in the spring newsletter.
 - c. Ballots, with a provision for write-in candidates in lieu of nominations from the floor, will be mailed by June 15 and must be returned one week prior to the Annual Business Meeting held at summer in-service.
 - d. Ballots will be returned to a source approved by the state board of directors, and the unopened ballots will be turned over to the election tellers for counting one week prior to the Annual Business Meeting held at summer in-service.
 - e. The election tellers shall present the ballot count to the state board of directors to be certified.
- Section 11. Absentee balloting shall be provided the membership.
- a. In the *TIVA NEWS* which lists the nominated candidates, a ballot shall be included.
 - b. This ballot shall list the nominated candidates and provide space for write-in candidates.
 - c. To be valid, the ballot must be postmarked one week prior to the Annual Business Meeting held at summer in-service.
 - d. The ballot would be marked by the member's name on the outside.
 - e. The unopened absentee ballots received would be turned over to the election tellers for counting.

ARTICLE VII DEPOSIT AND DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS

- Section 1. All deposits and expenditures of association funds shall be duly recorded, itemized and reported at least monthly by the executive director to the executive committee and chairs of the budget and audit committees.
- Section 2. All persons responsible for association funds shall be bonded and accountable, subject to audit, to the state board of directors for such expenditures.
- Section 3. The state board of directors shall have association accounts audited annually by an outside accounting firm; the annual internal audit shall be the responsibility of the Audit Committee serving during the fiscal year being audited.
- Section 4. All checks drawn from accounts held by the Texas Industrial Vocational Association shall be signed and countersigned by two (2) of the following individuals: president, secretary-treasurer, executive director.
- Section 5. Funds of the association shall be deposited in a bank or banks so designated and approved by the state board of directors.
- Section 6. The executive director shall be responsible for deposits and disbursements of association operating funds as directed by the state board of directors.
- Section 7. All funds not the property of the Texas Industrial Vocational Association, Inc., shall be deposited and accounted for separately from the funds of the association.

ARTICLE VIII BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- Section 1. The state board of directors shall have the management and control of the affairs and funds of the association, subject to the dictates of the membership expressed at the annual membership meeting and among its duties shall:
- a. Have direction and charge of conferences, conventions, workshops and seminars.
 - b. Approve all publications.
 - c. Develop procedures and objectives for implementation of the association program of work.
 - d. Evaluate the accomplishments of the association.
 - e. Coordinate the various committee activities with the program of work.
 - f. Approve the annual budget.
 - g. Receive and act upon committee reports.
 - h. Provide for the safe keeping and proper investment of all funds of the association.
 - i. Appoint the executive director and designate the term of office and compensation of the executive director.
 - j. Develop the managerial procedures to guide operations of the association.
 - k. Approve the location of the headquarters of the association.
 - l. Divide the membership into districts that correspond to those used by the Texas Education Agency.
 - m. Establish the fiscal year of the association.

- n. Establish necessary quorums for the conduct of business of the association in those instances where a quorum is not specified in the Bylaws.
- o. Designate and cause to be bonded those members and employees depositing and distributing funds of the association.

- Section 2. The state board of directors shall include the elected state officers, the district presidents and directors, two representatives from the Industrial Advisory Committee and one ex-officio member from Texas SkillsUSA.
- Section 3. The executive director and the standing committee chairmen, if not current members of the board, shall meet with the state board of directors in a non-voting, advisory capacity.
- Section 4. The policies and procedures of the state board of directors shall be subject to approval by the membership.
- Section 5. When a member of the state board of directors is unable to attend a state board meeting, they may designate a substitute for that particular meeting.
- Section 6. All district substitutes must be an active member of the district they are representing.
- Section 7. Designation may be in writing or by verbal contact with the state president or executive director.
- Section 8. If a district president or district director is absent from at least two (2) consecutive state board of directors meetings without designating a substitute, they will forfeit their office and the state president will appoint a new district president or district director. If they are absent from three meetings during their term, regardless of the appointment of a substitute, they will forfeit their office and the state president will appoint a new district president or district director. If removed from office for the reasons listed above, the member will be ineligible to participate as a board member for two years.

ARTICLE IX EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

- Section 1. The executive director shall be the administrative head of the association and shall be directly responsible to the state board of directors for conducting the general affairs of the association.
- Section 2. The major functions of the position include overall management and direction of the day to day business of the association, public relations, interpreting the career and technical education program to policymakers, maintaining close contact with the Texas Education Agency staff, association meetings, membership campaigns and promotion of workable relations with other groups and/or organizations.
- Section 3. The executive director shall, under the general direction of the state president, make all necessary arrangements for the annual meeting of the association and meetings of the state board of directors.
- Section 4. The executive director shall advise and assist the state president and the executive committee of the association in their planning and policy making functions.
- Section 5. The executive director shall keep a record of all meetings of the association, the executive committee and the state board of directors.
- Section 6. The executive director shall receive, record and deposit all monies received by the association and shall secure indemnity bond annually in an amount determined by the state board of directors for all employees responsible for funds. The expense of said bond shall be paid by the association.
- Section 7. All available funds shall be disbursed by the executive director in compliance with the current budget adopted by the state board of directors on checks that bear signatures of the president and/or secretary-treasurer and/or executive director.
- Section 8. The executive director shall have responsibility for organizing and maintaining headquarters and staff to accomplish the goals, objectives and program of work of the association.
- Section 9. The executive director shall perform all the duties assigned to that office.
- Section 10. The executive director, as administrative head of the association, shall have the responsibility of investigating sexual harassment claims, if necessary, and determining if proper actions were taken by TIVA management personnel in dealing with sexual harassment claims as management shall make a full report to the executive director in all matters relating to sexual harassment claims.

ARTICLE X STATE PRESIDENT DUTIES

- Section 1. The state president shall have the power to remove any of his or her appointees from their appointed positions.
- Section 2. Presidents (state and district) shall have the power to appoint all committees. State level appointments shall require the advice and consent of the board of directors.
- Section 3. The state president may authorize non-budgeted expenditures of funds which shall be subject to review and approval by the state board of directors.
- Section 4. The state president may initiate executive action to cope with unexpected situations. All such action shall be subject to review and approval by the state board of directors.
- Section 5. The state president shall preside at all meetings of the general membership and the state board of directors.
- Section 6. The state president shall utilize the *TIVA NEWS* as a medium of informing the membership on all pertinent issues affecting vocational education.
- Section 7. The state president shall represent the first one-hundred (100) members of the association as a delegate to the ACTE

Convention.

- Section 8. The state president shall appoint a Nominations Committee prior to September 1 of each year consisting of not less than three nor more than six members with an alternate list to fill any vacancies.
- Section 9. The state president shall be empowered to fill vacancies created by the establishment of new state districts by the Texas Education Agency.
- Section 10. The state president shall appoint a district president or district director to fill a vacancy on the state board of directors pending the calling of an election in the district which shall be held within ninety (90) days of the appointment. All district appointees must be a member in the district they are representing.
- Section 11. The state president shall coordinate the activities of the state board of directors with the executive director.
- Section 12. The state president shall call a meeting of the state board of directors within ninety (90) days of assuming office.
- Section 13. The state president shall appoint the chairs of the state level committees. Standing committee chairmen shall be appointed by the incoming president prior to the adjournment of the annual summer in-service meeting.
- Section 14. The state president shall designate the time and place of general membership meetings.
- Section 15. The state president shall call a meeting no later than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of a petition from one-fifth (1/5) of the membership or a simple majority of the state board of directors requesting such a meeting.
- Section 16. The state president shall be one of the authorized co-signers of checks to disburse association funds.
- Section 17. The state president shall appoint a member of the state board of directors to fill the unexpired term should a vacancy occur in the office of state secretary-treasurer.
- Section 18. The state president shall appoint one or more persons to act as parliamentarian(s) at business sessions.
- Section 19. The state president shall appoint a Committee of Tellers consisting of three to five members at the annual general membership meeting.
- Section 20. The state president shall serve as an ex-officio member of all committees.
- Section 22. The state president shall perform all the duties assigned to that office.

ARTICLE XI STATE PRESIDENT-ELECT DUTIES

- Section 1. The state president-elect shall fill any vacancy arising in the office of state president until the state board of directors chooses a successor to fill the unexpired term.
- Section 2. The state president-elect shall assist the state president when he/she is prevented from fulfilling an association obligation in the state president's name.
- Section 3. The state president-elect shall serve as a member of the state board of directors.
- Section 4. The state president-elect shall coordinate the available ACTE services to these districts needing administrative support and counsel.
- Section 5. The state president-elect shall periodically revise and update the officer handbook under the direction of the state board of directors.
- Section 6. The state president-elect shall conduct the officer orientation at the annual in-service workshop coordination such preparations with the state president.
- Section 7. The state president-elect shall develop procedures to implement the program of work under the direction of the state board of directors.
- Section 8. The state president-elect shall serve as an ex-officio member of all committees.
- Section 9. The state president-elect shall work with the state president and members of the staff in the study and recommendations of an association program of work.

ARTICLE XII STATE SECRETARY-TREASURER DUTIES

- Section 1. The state secretary-treasurer shall function as a member of the state board of directors.
- Section 2. The state secretary-treasurer shall record the minutes of the annual and special meetings of the full membership; record the minutes of all regular and special meetings of the state board of directors and forward completed minutes to the executive director within ten (10) calendar days of the meeting for distribution.
- Section 3. The state secretary-treasurer shall keep a record of all financial transactions made with TIVA funds, properties or investments.
- Section 4. The state secretary-treasurer shall render, upon request, a financial statement to the state board of directors or the state president.
- Section 5. The state secretary-treasurer shall be one of the authorized co-signers of checks to disburse association funds.
- Section 6. The state secretary-treasurer shall remit all records in possession to the state president or executive director or successor in office upon termination of term as state secretary-treasurer.
- Section 7. The state secretary-treasurer shall serve as an ex-officio member of all committees.

ARTICLE XIII STATE PAST PRESIDENT DUTIES

- Section 1. The state past president shall serve as a member of the state board of directors and executive committee for a period of one year immediately upon completion of term as state president with full voting privileges.
- Section 2. The state past president shall arrange for research to be undertaken and continued pertinent to the development and

improvement of the overall operation of the association.

- Section 3. The state past president may study and recommend policy to the state board of directors relating to the projects and activities that were initiated during the previous year under his/her term as state president.
- Section 4. The state past president may study and recommend policy to the state board of directors relating to association involvement with business and industry.
- Section 5. The state past president may represent the association on ACTE committees to which he/she has been appointed or hold regional or national office in ACTE.
- Section 6. The state past president shall serve as the Nominations Committee chairman.
- Section 7. The state past president may be elected by the state board of directors to fill and unexpired term of the state president.
- Section 8. The state past president shall serve as an ex-officio member of all committees.

ARTICLE XIV DISTRICT PRESIDENT DUTIES

- Section 1. District presidents shall be the executive officers of the various districts of the association.
- Section 2. The powers and duties of the district president shall parallel those of the state president, but on the district level only.
- Section 3. District presidents shall be members of the state board of directors.
- Section 4. District presidents shall have a two (2) year term of office.
- Section 5. Even numbered districts shall elect district presidents during even numbered years; odd numbered districts shall elect district presidents during odd numbered years.
- Section 6. District presidents shall take office on the same day as newly elected state officers.
- Section 7. District presidents shall have held active membership in the association for at least one year immediately preceding their election.
- Section 8. District presidents shall preside at all regular and called district level association meetings.
- Section 9. District presidents shall arrange for a time and place for district meetings to be held as necessary, communicating the information to the state president.
- Section 10. District presidents shall hold elections and make appointments necessary to carry out the programs of the association.
- Section 11. District presidents shall have the power to remove any of their appointees from their appointed positions.
- Section 12. District presidents shall send copies of all correspondence pertaining to the association to the president, president-elect, secretary-treasurer, executive director and other board members it might concern.
- Section 13. District presidents shall send copies of material to be mailed to the membership, in whole or in part, to the state president for approval prior to mailing.
- Section 14. Election of the District President shall be held at the TIVA General Business Meeting during the Trade and Industrial Education Mid-Winter Conference.

ARTICLE XV DISTRICT DIRECTOR DUTIES

- Section 1. Each district shall have one director on the state board of directors.
- Section 2. District directors shall have two (2) year terms of office.
- Section 3. District directors shall have held active membership in the association for at least one year immediately preceding their election.
- Section 4. District directors shall be elected in their respective district meetings on years not to coincide with district president elections prior to the annual summer in-service meeting.
- Section 5. District directors shall assist the district president in coordinating the work and activities of the district committees.
- Section 6. A district director shall serve as chairman of any regular or called district meetings which the district president is unable to attend.
- Section 7. When the district president is unable to attend, the district director shall serve in his/her stead to represent the district at state, regional or national level meetings in the interest of the association.
- Section 8. District directors shall take office on the same day as newly elected state officers.
- Section 9. District directors will:
- a. Develop a district response system to support TIVA legislative goals.
 - b. Serve as co-chairman of the district membership committee.
- Section 10. Election of the District Director shall be held at the TIVA General Business Meeting during the Trade and Industrial Education Mid-Winter Conference.

ARTICLE XVI COMMITTEE DUTIES

- Section 1. The executive committee shall be the elected state officers and the immediate past president. The executive director shall serve as ex-officio member.
- Section 2. Minutes of actions taken at any executive committee meeting shall be communicated to the state board of directors in writing as soon as possible after a meeting.
- Section 3. Budget Committee (Standing) duties shall include:
- a. Monitor the finances of the association.
 - b. Prepare, together with the executive director and executive committee, a recommended budget for the year.
 - c. Submit a proposed budget to the state board of directors for approval.

- d. Receive and review monthly or quarterly financial reports on expenditures and income. If necessary, require an accounting of items not consistent with those budgets approved by the state board of directors.
 - e. Review the results of an annual external audit of the previous year's accounts.
- Section 4. Legislative Committee (Standing) duties shall include:
- a. Assist ACTE and other associations and groups to further the objectives of career and technical education.
 - b. Make written, telephone and personal contacts with local, state and national political leaders to promote the official position of the association on legislative matters.
 - c. Study legislative issues and make recommendations for official association positions.
 - d. Prepare reports on legislative issues for dissemination to the membership.
 - e. Make recommendations to the Awards Committee for nominees for Outstanding Service Awards for worthy policy-makers.
- Section 5. Membership Committee (Standing) duties shall include:
- a. District level committees shall consist of members and a chairperson appointed by the district president.
 - b. All membership committees—state, district and school district—are responsible for maintaining the continued support of all present members and securing new members including student members.
 - c. Wherever possible, there should be a member appointed to the district committee within each specific school building in each district.
 - d. Members of this committee should accept their function as related to information, education, encouragement and cooperation.
- Section 6. Public Relations Committee (Standing) duties shall include:
- a. Recommend policy to the state board of directors relative to the conduct of an effective and continuing public relations program.
 - b. Study and arrange for obtaining adequate factual background data through research to determine the existence of problems that indicate the need for a public relations program.
 - c. Study and recommend a plan to implement a public relations program taking into account methods of carrying out the program considering existing staff; use of an outside firm; financing the program; and media sources.
- Section 7. Nominations Committee (Standing) duties shall include:
- a. Consider nominations for the offices of state president-elect and secretary-treasurer.
 - b. Submit a minimum of one name and a maximum of three names for each office under consideration. This slate of names, along with a biographical sketch of each nominee, should be submitted to the executive director by April 10 each year to assure publication in the *TIVA NEWS*.
 - c. Disregard all nominations received after the deadline, as determined by the date of the spring state board of directors meeting.
 - d. Send an acceptance form to the nominee, after the deadline has passed, to be returned within ten (10) calendar days indicating the nominees' interest in running for office and contact by phone any individual who does not respond to the form.
 - e. Excuse from the committee while such candidacy is being considered any member of the Nominations Committee who is a potential candidate for the office.
 - f. Make sure the membership is apprised of the situation prior to voting time if a candidate withdraws.
- Section 8. Audit Committee duties shall include:
- a. Review and evaluate periodically the financial activities of the association.
 - b. Review the results of an annual external audit of the previous year's accounts.
 - c. Ensure that the bookkeeping and financial records required are kept in an appropriate manner.
 - d. Prepare and submit to the state board of directors a report and analysis of the association's finances.
- Section 9. Awards Committee duties shall include:
- a. Ensure that adequate preparations are made for receiving nominations for the Administrator Award (may be any of the following: principal, supervisor, superintendent, vocational director, vocational supervisor and/or vocational counselor).
 - b. Ensure that adequate preparations are made for receiving nominations for the Outstanding Service Award (may be any of the following: legislator, advisory committee member or TIVA member).
 - c. Be responsible for receiving nominations for Outstanding Texas Education Agency Member Award and Outstanding University or College Staff Member Award.
 - d. Study and recommend the recipients of these awards to the state board of directors.
 - e. Present the awards to the winners.
- Section 10. Committee of Tellers duties shall include:
- a. Secure all ballots cast, open and count them.
 - b. Certify to the state board of directors, the names of persons duly elected. This certification may take the form of a signed proclamation with accompanying ballots sent to the office of the executive director.

- Section 11. Parliamentary duties shall include:
- a. Serve as a consultant to the state president on procedural matters.
 - b. Have a working knowledge of parliamentary law.
 - c. Have the ability to give opinions based upon parliamentary law not upon bias.
 - d. Be a person in whom others have confidence, since he/she may be called upon to settle controversial issues.
 - e. Serve as a source of parliamentary information, having no authority to enforce his/her ideas or rulings.
 - f. Call attention to any error in procedure which he/she observes.
 - g. Keep in his/her possession necessary references to check if a decision is questioned. These references should include *Roberts Rules of Order, Newly Revised*.
- Section 12. Resource Development Committee duties shall include:
- a. Determine, through research and study, the needs of the organization, recommending policy to the state board of directors on meeting these needs through association efforts.
 - b. Review, on a continuing basis, organizational objectives and study problems as well as trends of current
 - c. Work with the state president and the staff in the study and recommendation of new activities.
 - d. Work with the budget committee to determine the amount of income needed to support the program of work.
 - e. Ensure that adequate preparations are made for future needs, staff and facilities.
 - f. Ensure that member service activities expand in proportion to membership growth.
 - g. Make direct efforts to ensure that policy decisions will contribute to and be in harmony with long range objectives of the association.

ARTICLE XVII TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENTS

- Section 1. The travel policy will apply to all state board of directors, staff and others who are authorized by the association to travel for the association.
- Section 2. All travel must be approved by the state president before payment is authorized.
- Section 3. Mileage will be reimbursed for round trip mileage as computed from the Texas Highway Department map at the rate of \$.17 per mile for board members, officers and volunteers. Mileage for staff will be reimbursed at the same rate as state employees receive.
- Section 4. If it is deemed to be more expedient for both the individual and the association, reimbursement will be made for the actual cost of a commercial airline ticket, round trip. Receipt is required for reimbursement.
- ~~Section 5. If travel by airline is authorized, then reimbursement for terminal parking, not to exceed \$5.00 per day, will be authorized. Receipt is required for reimbursement.~~
- ~~Section 6. If travel by airline is authorized, then one round trip taxi fare between the terminal and headquarters is authorized. Receipt is required for reimbursement.~~
- Section 5. No in town mileage will be paid unless specifically authorized.
- Section 6. State board of directors will be reimbursed for meals when traveling out of state only. Staff will be reimbursed for meals when traveling on association business. Meal reimbursement rate will be the same as state employees receive.
- Section 7. When practical, the headquarters lodging will be selected in advance of any meeting and a special rate established for association members. Reimbursement for lodging will be at the rate established at the headquarters property. In no instance, will reimbursement exceed the amount actually expended by the individual. A receipt will be required for reimbursement. Individuals may stay at a property of their choice, however, the reimbursement rate will not exceed the established rate at the headquarters property.
- Section 8. The association will reimburse state board members at a rate of half the double room rate for state board of directors meetings. Individuals who stay in single rooms by choice will be responsible for the balance of the room rate.
- Section 9. The association will reimburse for the sleeping room only, not for incidentals such as room service, beverage service, personal telephone calls, etc.
- Section 10. All requests for travel reimbursement must be submitted to the association for payment within forty-five (45) calendar days after travel has been completed. Any travel vouchers submitted after forty-five (45) days will not be paid.
- Section 11. The association will pay out of state travel for the state president, state president-elect, state secretary-treasurer, immediate past president and executive director.
- Section 12. Any expenses incurred that are not listed above will not be paid without state board of directors approval.

ARTICLE XVII FRATERNIZATION WITH EMPLOYEES BY BOARD MEMBERS

- Section 1. TIVA takes its organizational goals extremely serious and feels that romantic relationships between board members and employees may hinder these goals.
- Section 2. TIVA strongly discourages board members from engaging in romantic relationships with employees; and if necessary, the state president may use his or her authority under ARTICLE X, Section 4 to take executive action to cope with unexpected situations, which will then be brought before the board of directors.

ARTICLE XVIII. PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

Section 1. *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised* shall govern procedural matters in the conduct of business meetings not specifically covered in the Constitution and Bylaws.

Texas Industrial Vocational Association

316 West 12th Street, Suite 301

Austin, Texas 78701-1840

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Amended: 1/2004; 6/2008; 5/2009

The Policies and Procedures of TIVA must be approved by a majority vote of the state board of directors and become effective upon approval.

Voting Policies

1. The President shall appoint an election judge and two assistants who will serve as the Committee of Tellers.
2. No officer candidate nor their campaign team shall be on the Committee of Tellers.
3. Voting shall take place following the summer in-service conference opening general assembly until 5:00 p.m. on the second day of the conference.
4. No campaigning shall be within 25-30 feet of the TIVA ballot box.
5. No campaigning or campaign paraphernalia shall be allowed at the TIVA membership booth.
6. The election location must be held away from the TIVA membership booth and registration.

Board of Director Terms

1. If a member of the board of directors or executive committee retires from teaching during their elective term, they may fulfill their duties in that capacity until the elective term expires.
2. A teacher is considered retired when they have retired and is no longer teaching under a standard teaching contract.

Industry Advisory Board Member Terms

1. Advisory board member will be appointed by incoming president-elect to serve a two-year term expiring at the end of the said president-elect term as president.
2. Advisory board member will be ineligible for reappointment for a term of one year.
3. Any vacancy of advisory board member will be filled by the officer who appointed that position.